NOT YET SCHEDULED FOR ORAL ARGUMENT  
24-CF-191



Clerk of the Court  
Received 06/24/2025 09:34 PM  
Filed 06/24/2025 09:34 PM

---

**IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
COURT OF APPEALS**

---

MARQUETTE JORDAN  
*Appellant,*

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,  
*Appellee.*

---

On Appeal From The Superior Court  
Of The District Of Columbia  
Criminal Division

---

**OPENING BRIEF FOR APPELLANT  
MARQUETTE JORDAN**

---

Jason K. Clark (D.C. Bar No. 1000198)  
Counsel of Record and Counsel for Oral Argument  
THE LAW OFFICE OF JASON K. CLARK  
503 D Street, NW, Suite 250  
Washington, D.C. 20001  
(202) 505-2766  
jason@clarkdefense.com

*Counsel for Marquette Jordan*

### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1. Whether the trial court improperly removed Juror 15 during deliberations.
2. Whether the trial court erred in admitting evidence that Mr. Jordan took the decedent's wallet, keys, and cell phone, despite Jordan's prior acquittal and the prejudicial nature of the evidence.
3. Whether the trial court abused its discretion by admitting Jordan's offhand remark to police that he had cancer when he did not, just so they could use testimony and medical records to impeach Jordan with the lie.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal from a criminal conviction after a trial by jury. Mr. Jordan was originally charged by indictment with one count of first-degree murder while armed (premeditated) in violation of 22 DC Code §§ 2101, 4502; robbery while armed in violation of 22 DC Code §§ 2801, 4502; two counts of threatening to injure/kidnap a person in violation of 22 DC Code § 1810; assault with a dangerous weapon in violation of 22 DC Code § 402; simple assault in violation of 22 DC Code § 404; carrying a dangerous weapon (outside home or place of business) in violation of 22 DC Code § 4504(a)(2). R. at 981-83 (Indictment).

Mid-trial, counts three and five (threats to injure/kidnap), and count four (ADW) were dismissed. Deliberating on the remaining four counts, on April 12, 2022, the jury returned a partial verdict acquitting Mr. Jordan of robbery while armed. R. at 1337 (First Partial Verdict Form). On April 18, 2022, the jury returned a second partial verdict acquitting Mr. Jordan of first-degree murder while armed (premeditated). R. at 1343 (Second Partial Verdict Form). On the remaining three counts (second-degree murder, simple assault, and carrying a dangerous weapon) the jury was unable to reach a verdict and a mistrial was declared on April 18, 2022.

On April 26, 2022, the government announced its intention to retry appellant on second-degree murder while armed, simple assault, and carrying a dangerous weapon. 4/26/22 Status Hr'g Tr. 2-3.

The second jury trial commenced on November 14, 2023. The jury delivered its verdict on December 19, 2023, convicting appellant of all three counts. R. at 1597 (Verdict Form).

Defense counsel filed a written post-trial Motion for Judgment of Acquittal on 12/21/2023, R. at 1600 (MJOA), to which the government responded on 1/31/2024. R. at 1605 (Opposition to MJOA). The court issued an Order on 2/28/2024 denying the defense motion yet again. R. at 1615 (Order Denying MJOA).

On March 1, 2024, the trial court followed the government’s request for an upward departure from the voluntary sentencing guidelines, and sentenced appellant to 30 years with five years of supervised release on the second-degree murder count, two years with 3 years of supervised release on the carrying a dangerous weapon count, and 180 days on simple assault. R. at 1626 (Amended Judgement and Commitment Order). The court specified that the murder and weapons counts run consecutive to each other, and that the simple assault run concurrent to the other two counts. *Id.*

A notice of appeal was timely filed. R. at 1627 (Notice of Appeal).

**Table of Offenses and Outcomes**

<b>Count</b>	<b>Offense</b>	<b>Code Section</b>	<b>1st Trial</b>	<b>2nd Trial</b>
1	First Degree Murder While Armed (Premeditated) (Ivan Lynch)	22 D.C. Code § 2101, 4502	Not Guilty	—
1a	Lesser Included: Second Degree Murder While Armed	--	No Verdict	Guilty

2	Robbery While Armed (iPhone, Wallet, and Car Keys)	22 D.C. Code § 2801, 4502	Not Guilty	—
3	Threatening To Injure/Kidnap a Person	22 D.C. Code § 1810	Dismissed	—
4	Assault with a Dangerous Weapon	22 D.C. Code § 402	Dismissed	—
5	Threatening To Injure/Kidnap a Person (Ashley Carmon)	22 D.C. Code § 1810	Dismissed	—
6	Assault	22 D.C. Code § 404	No Verdict	Guilty
7	Carrying a Dangerous Weapon (Outside) (Knife)	22 D.C. Code § 4504(a)	No Verdict	Guilty

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The appellant, Marquette Jordan was convicted of second-degree murder while armed of Ivan Lynch (Count 1); the simple assault of Ashley Carmon (Count 6); and finally carrying a dangerous weapon (knife) (Count 7). R. at 981-83 (Indictment), 1597 (Verdict Form), 1626 (Amended Judgement and Commitment Order). The government sponsored the testimony of thirty witnesses. The defense did not present any witness testimony.

It was undisputed that on April 29, 2018, a group of people gathered together in a small apartment located at 900 5th Street, SE, Washington, D.C. 11/28/23 Tr. 80. The apartment was a one bedroom apartment designated as senior housing leased to Florence Copeland.<sup>1</sup> 11/28/23 Tr. 80, 100. Copeland's son, Tyrone Johnson, was living with her at the time. *Id.*

On April 29th, Johnson had a group of people over to the apartment.<sup>2</sup> The group included Marquette Jordan, Ivan Lynch, Ashley Carmon, Carmon's two young children (A.C. & T.C.), and Jaunice Beverly. Including Johnson and Copeland, there were eight people in the one-bedroom apartment that evening.

Johnson and Jordan had known each other for approximately five years. 11/28/23 Tr. at 83. Johnson saw Jordan daily, and Jordan was a close enough friend that he would sometimes spend the night at the apartment. 11/28/23 Tr. 84. Ashley

---

<sup>1</sup> Ashley Carmon described the apartment as, “[a]ssisted living for elderly people.” 11/27/23 Tr. 33.

<sup>2</sup> The group gathered to celebrate Lynch's birthday, which was April 29th. 11/15/23 Tr. 49; 11/28/23 Tr. 86. However, the gathering happened late and may not have actually started until the early morning hours of April 30th. 11/28/23 Tr. 91.

Carmon was Jordan's girlfriend. 11/28/23 Tr. 84; *but see* 11/27/23 Tr. 35-41 (Carmon denies being Jordan's girlfriend but admits to an inconsistent, sometimes sexual relationship). Johnson and Carmon had known each other for about three years,<sup>3</sup> and Carmon too would sometimes spend the night sleeping at Johnson's and often brought her two young children with her. 11/28/23 Tr. 86; 11/27/23 Tr. 30. Neither Johnson, Lynch, nor Carmon knew Jaunice Beverly—she was a friend of Jordan's. 11/17/23 Tr. 114 (Beverly describes Jordan as a friend); 11/28/23 Tr. 90 (Johnson had never met Beverly prior).

April 29 was Lynch's birthday, 11/15/23 Tr. 49; 11/28/23 Tr. 86, and the group had ostensibly gathered to celebrate. 11/28/23 Tr. 86:25. Johnson considered Lynch a "pretty close" friend. 11/28/23 Tr. 82. Carmon described Lynch as a casual acquaintance that she did not really know, just someone she would say hello to and exchange a few words with. 11/27/23 Tr. 34. According to Carmon, Jordan did not really know Lynch. 11/27/23 Tr. 35.

In the apartment people started drinking and talking. 11/28/23 Tr. 100; 105. Tyrone testified that he had been smoking marijuana throughout the day as well, but it is unclear if anyone else smoked marijuana. 11/28/23 Tr. 103.

At this point, the government and defense theory of what occurred in the apartment diverges. The government argued that Jordan and Carmon got into an argument which prompted Lynch to intervene on Carmon's behalf. Upon

---

<sup>3</sup> Ashley Carmon says she only knew Tyrone Johnson for about two years while Johnson says it was about three years. 11/27/23 Tr. 29; 11/28/23 Tr. 86.

intervening, Lynch and Jordan’s interaction quickly escalated into a physical altercation, culminating in Jordan stabbing Lynch.

The defense argued that Lynch was out of control and attacked Jordan. There was testimony that Lynch attacked Jordan first and put him in a restrictive hold and Carmon explained that Jordan called out for help, saying, “Get – him off of me.” 11/27/23 Tr. 81. There was disagreement about the nature of the hold and whether it was a chokehold, which may have caused Jordan to lose consciousness.<sup>4</sup> Regardless of whether Jordan lost consciousness, the defense argued that that someone else in the apartment, most likely Carmon, stabbed Lynch to assist Jordan, as it was Lynch who was out of control. The defense further argued that Tyrone Johnson likely assisted Carmon in covering up her involvement in the stabbing. The defense eschewed any claim of self-defense on the part of Jordan and focused instead on the

---

<sup>4</sup> Underlying the parties’ arguments was knowledge that at the first trial Jordan took the stand to testify that he had blacked out. During his testimony, Jordan explained that Lynch choked him causing him to lose consciousness. 4/5/22 Tr. 195. Jordan explained that he, “blacked out totally.” *Id.* Jordan did not know how long he was out, but that when he regained consciousness Beverly and Carmon were gone. 4/5/22 Tr. 199. He awoke to find the two kids pressing at his leg trying to wake him. Johnson was on the couch, but uncommunicative. 4/5/22 Tr. 201. Jordan said he saw Lynch on his back in the kitchen, but thought Lynch was alive because he heard snoring. 4/5/22 Tr. 201. He did not investigate further, instead he took the kids and left the apartment because he felt something was unsafe about the situation. *Id.* Thus, underlying some of the focus on the nature of the hold—whether bear hug, chokehold, or other—was whether one could infer Lynch caused Jordan to lose consciousness.

idea that Carmon’s strange behavior following the stabbing could only be explained by her being directly responsible for stabbing Lynch.<sup>5</sup>

**A. The Eyewitnesses**

**1) Juanice Beverly**

Juanice Beverly testified for the Government regarding the events of April 30, 2018, at the apartment. 11/17/23 Tr. 112. She stated that she arrived at the location with Marquette Jordan and others, although she did not know the other individuals in the car or recall who was driving, beyond noting the driver was “lighter skin.” 11/17/23 Tr. 118.

Among the people in the car was Jordan’s girlfriend and her two children, who the witness had not previously met. *Id.* at 119. The plan was to go to the apartment of the dark-skinned male in the car and drink, smoke, and hang out (*Id.* at 119-120). Ms. Beverly testified that the children were getting tucked into bed in sleeping bags in the apartment while the adults were drinking and socializing. *Id.* at 121.

At some point, according to Ms. Beverly, Jordan and his girlfriend started arguing and the lighter skinned male tried to get involved; specifically, he told Jordan: “we don’t speak to ladies like that.” *Id.* at 122, 124. The two men started fighting with fists and Ms. Beverly grabbed the children to comfort them, faced them toward the wall, and covered their eyes and ears with her hands. *Id.* at 126-127. The witness left the apartment when she no longer heard fighting – at which time the

---

<sup>5</sup> Jordan’s defense counsel advised the court that they did not open on self-defense, were not pursuing a self-defense theory, were not arguing it in closing, and were not requesting a self-defense instruction. 11/28/2023 Tr. 74.

light-skinned man was on the floor, the dark-skinned man was on the couch, and the mother of the children was still in the apartment. *Id.* at 132. Ms. Beverly did not see where Jordan was when she left. *Id.* at 135. She identified herself in surveillance footage walking away from the apartment building at 2:50 a.m. *Id.* at 133.

## **2) Ashley Carmon**

Ashley Carmon, Jordan’s girlfriend and mother to the two children, testified to events. In April of 2018, both she and Jordan had a good relationship with Tyrone and had stayed over at the apartment he shared with his mother. 11/27/2023 Tr. 31. Carmon knew Ivan Lynch from growing up in the Hyattsville area and explained that Jordan and Lynch did not know one another. *Id.* at 34-35. Carmon testified that, late on April 29, 2018, Ivan, driving his car with Tyrone, picked her, her children, and Jordan up from Hyattsville and another woman from somewhere in D.C. *Id.* at 43-44. The plan was for them to spend the night at Tyrone’s apartment. *Id.* at 44.

En route to the apartment, Jordan and Lynch were arguing over directions and taking “sarcastic jibes” at each other. *Id.* at 46-47. Once they arrived at the apartment, Carmon and Tyrone started making a bed for the two girls with couch cushions and sleeping bags. *Id.* at 51. At some point, Jordan became agitated and loud. *Id.* at 58. Carmon testified that Lynch approached Jordan and stated, in a calm voice: “Hey, you don’t need to, like, get on her. You don’t need to be doing all of that. The kids are here.” *Id.* at 67-68.

Jordan then called Lynch a “wild nigger” and the two started fighting. *Id.* Carmon did not know who threw the first punch, but said Jordan initiated it. *Id.* at

71-72. Lynch had a hold on Jordan and was trying to “wrestle him down.” *Id.* Tyrone was yelling at the two to stop fighting, but never got physically involved in the fight. *Id.* at 73. Carmon was trying to grab the two of them and pull them apart. *Id.* at 75.

Carmon testified that Lynch had his arms around Jordan’s waist and his head against Jordan’s ribs and stomach, trying to “bring him down,” but she never saw Lynch holding Jordan in a way that would restrict his ability to breathe. *Id.* at 80. Carmon said she saw Jordan reach down to the dishwasher and grab a butcher knife; Carmon testified to seeing Jordan stab Lynch in the back. *Id.* at 82-83. After the stabbing motions, the witness saw Lynch fall to the ground. *Id.* at 89-90. She testified that, when she moved toward the kitchen area to look at Lynch, Jordan said to her, “I’ll kill you too.” *Id.* at 90.

Carmon claimed that, while she was holding a couch cushion, Jordan punched her in the face and she was bleeding from the nose. *Id.* at 90-91,97. She then ran from the apartment wearing neither shoes nor a jacket, and leaving her children behind, because she was scared (*Id.* at 98-99). Carmon admitted that she never called 911 or sought assistance from anyone in the building. She simply ran out the emergency exit door, leaving her children behind. She ran down the street, still holding the pillow, and scooted beneath a car to hide. *Id.* at 100-101. Cross-examination elicited that, during the fight, Jordan asked for help and advised that he was having trouble breathing. *Id.* at 158.

### 3) Tyrone Johnson

Tyrone Johnson testified that he lived with his mother at 900 5<sup>th</sup> Street, S.E., a senior citizen building. 11/28/23 Tr. at 80. At the apartment that night, everyone drank and talked, and Carmon tried to put the kids to sleep. *Id.* at 100, 103. At some point, Carmon and Jordan got into an argument, and he heard Jordan tell her that he would “whoop her ass,” *id.* at 105, after which Jordan “swung at her.” *Id.* at 109. Johnson testified that Lynch was trying to defuse the situation and telling Jordan to leave Carmon alone. *Id.* at 113. Johnson testified that the two men were fighting in the kitchen area and that he was yelling at Jordan to stop because “it seemed like he was the aggressor.” *Id.* at 115. Jordan had a knife and Lynch did not have a weapon. *Id.* Johnson saw Jordan swinging the knife at Lynch three or four times while Jordan was on top of Lynch and Lynch was on the ground. *Id.* at 116, 156.

Right after the stabbing, the Johnson testified that he did not see the knife on the ground. 11/29/23 Tr. 123. He did see Jordan going through Lynch’s pockets after stabbing him, and heard keys “jiggling,” and thought that Jordan had taken Lynch’s keys. *Id.*

Johnson testified that, after the fight, with Lynch on the ground, he told everyone to leave the apartment—everyone, including Jordan—and called 911; his call was entered into evidence and played for the jury. 11/28/23 Tr. 119-120,125. On cross-examination, Johnson explained that he waited about ten minutes before calling 911 because Jordan was still in the house and the witness had no idea what Jordan might do when he heard him calling the police. 11/29/23 Tr. 92, 94.

**B. Police Officers Locate and Collect the Keys, Phone, and Wallet.**

**1) MPD Officer Christopher John**

MPD Officer Christopher John responded to 900 5th Street, SE on April 30, 2018, and observed a person he later identified as Jordan, walking away from the building. 11/15/2023 Tr. 95-96. John made an in-court ID. 11/15/2023 Tr. 95-96. Specifically, as the officer was entering the building, he glanced to his right and saw Jordan walking away from the building with two children. *Id.* at 98. The witness testified to meeting Tyrone Johnson on the fourth floor, and entering apartment 448, where he saw Lynch on the floor, non-responsive and without a pulse. *Id.* at 107.

Officer John broadcast a lookout for the individual he saw leaving the building with two children, and later learned that officers had stopped a suspect in the 600 block of L Street, S.E. *Id.* at 112-113. Ofc. John went to the location and identified the individual stopped as the person he had seen earlier, and that person was Jordan. *Id.* at 114.

**2) MPD Officer Marta Spajic**

MPD Officer Marta Spajic testified that around 2:45 a.m., she observed an individual walking with two small children, approximately 2 and 4 years old, in the area of 900 5th Street, S.E. 11/17/2023 Tr. 57-59. Ofc. Spajic testified that she and the person locked eyes and that the individual took off running holding one child, and the other child running behind him. *Id.* at 60. About the same time, a lookout was broadcast over the police radio and the officer caught up with the person in the 600 block of L Street, S.E. *Id.* at 61. Ofc. Spajic made an in-court ID of Jordan. *Id.* at

65-66. The officer noticed blood on Jordan's khaki pants but found no weapons on him. *Id.* at 67-68. Ofc. Spajic requested that a canine officer search the vicinity of the 600 block of L Street, S.E. because that's where Jordan was stopped. *Id.* at 98-99. No weapon was ever recovered. *Id.* at 93.

**3) MPD Officer James Corcoran recovers a cell phone.**

MPD Officer James Corcoran testified that he is a K-9 handler, and was working on April 30, 2018 when he was called to 900 5<sup>th</sup> Street, SE in reference to a homicide. 11/20/23 Tr. 19. He then searched the 600 block of L Street, SE. *Id.* at 48, and recovered a cell phone at the corner of 6<sup>th</sup> and L Streets, SE, *Id.* at 38-40, a half block from the building at 900 5<sup>th</sup> Street, SE. *Id.* at 42. The police did not locate a knife. *Id.* at 43.

**4) Detective Zachary Powell explains that Lynch had no wallet, ID, or cell phone on him.**

Detective Zachary Powell testified that only shoes and clothing were recovered from the decedent; Lynch had no wallet, ID, or cellphone. 11/16/2023 Tr. 165-166.

**5) Detective Paris White recovers a set of keys to Lynch's vehicle from Jordan and discovers that Lynch's wallet was mailed to Lynch's father.**

Detective Paris White testified that he was the lead detective in the instant case 11/30/23 Tr. 62. Detective White requested that the cellphone recovered from 600 L Street, S.E. be extracted, and learned that it belonged to the decedent. *Id.* at 69. He also testified that from Jordan's pockets, he recovered a set of keys to Lynch's

vehicle. *Id.* at 74. Detective Paris visited the decedent’s father at his home in Hyattsville, MD, and learned that Lynch’s wallet had been returned in the mail, with a return address of Van Ness Elementary School. *Id.* at 86, 92.

### **C. The Removal of Juror Fifteen During Deliberations**

#### **1) After a week of deliberations, the jury sends two notes expressing frustration with a fellow juror.**

Jordan’s jury began its deliberations on December 5, 2023. After a week of deliberation on December 14, 2023, the court received two notes from separate jurors. 12/14/2023 Tr. 9; *see also* R. at 1587 (Juror 28’s Note), 1588 (Juror 13’s Note). Both notes expressed frustration with a fellow juror. *Id.* Neither note identified the juror at issue. The court chose to question Juror 28 about the note they sent. According to Juror 28, a fellow juror had become withdrawn and was expressing the inability to make a decision. Juror 28 identified Juror 15 as the juror at issue. 12/14/23 Tr. 15, 19 (Juror 15 is the juror at issue). The second note, from Juror 13, accused a fellow juror of initially misunderstanding the unanimity requirement and exhibiting emotional duress from the perceived burden upon learning what it meant.<sup>6</sup> The court never inquired of Juror 13 directly, and the record does not reveal if the author of that note (R. at 1588) was referring to Juror 15.<sup>7</sup> The court presumed

---

<sup>6</sup> The noted attributed to Juror 13 suggested that the subject juror was uncomfortable “making judgments against others . . . .” R. at 1588 (Juror 13’s Note). Juror 13’s note complained that it is unfair to it that this juror has been confused for four weeks “until now.” *Id.*

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