Clerk of the Court  
Received 10/09/2025 11:01 AM  
Filed 10/09/2025 11:01 AM

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

---

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
COURT OF APPEALS

---

No. 24-CF-191

---

MARQUETTE JORDAN,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  
CRIMINAL DIVISION

---

JEANINE FERRIS PIRRO  
United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB  
NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN  
NATALIE HYNUM

\* ELIZABETH GABRIEL  
MD Bar  
Assistant United States Attorneys

\* Counsel for Oral Argument  
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232  
Washington, D.C. 20530  
Elizabeth.Gabriel@usdoj.gov  
(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2018-CF1-6586

##

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

### **C. Discussion**

#### **1. Jordan Invited Any Error in the Admission of Testimony that He Rummaged Through Lynch’s Pockets.**

This Court should decline to consider Jordan’s challenge to Johnson’s testimony that Jordan rummaged through the decedent’s pockets after killing him, because that testimony was elicited by Jordan on cross-examination. *See Parker v. United States*, 757 A.2d 1280, 1286–87 (D.C. 2000) (where challenged evidence was “first raised by defense counsel on cross-examination[,] . . . error that occurred, if any, was invited by defense counsel” (citation and quotation marks omitted)); *Gonzalez v. United States*, 697 A.2d 819, 826 (D.C. 1997) (defense counsel “invited” any error arising from “highly prejudicial” testimony that counsel himself elicited on cross-examination of expert witness); *see also (Nathaniel) Howard v. United*

*States*, 978 A.2d 1202, 1211 (D.C. 2009) (“When the government elicits testimony on a subject during redirect examination that the defense brought up during cross-examination, the defendant ‘cannot well complain of being prejudiced by a situation which [he] created,’” because ‘the error that occurred, if any, was invited by defense counsel.’” (citations omitted)). Although the court flagged this testimony by giving the limiting instruction before Johnson testified, that too was at defense counsel’s invitation (11/28/23 Tr. 78). The government did not question Johnson about the rummaging on direct examination. It was Jordan who chose to raise the issue for the first time on cross-examination, despite having objected to testimony on the subject pretrial. Any error was therefore invited. *See Henny v. United States*, 321 A.3d 621, 633 (D.C. 2024) (where defendant “made the choice not to call another witness,” this Court would not “further scrutinize what [defendant] invited”); *Preacher v. United States*, 934 A.2d 363, 368 (D.C. 2007) ([T]he invited error doctrine precludes a party from asserting as error on appeal a course that he or she has induced the trial court to take.”).

Should this Court choose to consider Jordan’s claim, the admission of Johnson’s testimony on this point should be reviewed only for plain error. *See Parker*, 757 A.2d at 1287 (applying plain-error review to admission of redirect testimony on topic that defendant first introduced on cross-examination). For the reasons described below, Jordan cannot establish any error much less plain error.

## 2. The evidence was properly admitted.

The trial court did not plainly err in admitting evidence that Jordan rummaged through Lynch's pockets after stabbing him. Nor did it abuse its discretion in admitting evidence that, shortly after the murder, Jordan was found in possession of Lynch's keys and in close proximity to Lynch's cell phone and, inferentially, Lynch's wallet. This evidence was properly admitted under *(William) Johnson* because it was "direct and substantial proof of the charged crime," "closely intertwined with the evidence of the charged crime," and "necessary to place the charged crime in an understandable context." 683 A.2d at 1098. Jordan's actions minutes after the murder were relevant to "explain the immediate circumstances surrounding the offense charged" and "complete the story of the crime." *Id.* (citations omitted). That Jordan had the presence of mind to go through Lynch's pockets right after stabbing him multiple times showed that Jordan was the aggressor, intended to kill Lynch, and did not act in the heat of passion. Further, the cell phone and wallet evidence supported a reasonable inference that Jordan had jettisoned those items as he fled, in fear of apprehension and because of his guilty conscience. This evidence was direct proof of guilt and therefore "squarely fit[]" the *Johnson* rubric, as the trial court correctly concluded (11/15/23 Tr. 8). *See Burgess v. United States*, 786 A.2d 561, 569 (D.C. 2001) (consciousness-of-guilt evidence was "directly admissible evidence of the charged crime separate from its potential

status as evidence of other, uncharged crimes,” and was thus admissible under *Johnson*).

Even if Jordan’s pocket-rummaging and possession of Lynch’s belongings did not constitute *Johnson* evidence, it was nevertheless admissible under the *Drew* exceptions for evidence of identity and intent.<sup>15</sup> Jordan disputed the identity evidence, asserting that Carmon was in fact the perpetrator (12/5/23 Tr. 95-97, 122-23). Evidence that Jordan had Lynch’s property, and had attempted to discard that property shortly after the murder, helped demonstrate that Jordan, not Carmon, had committed the crime. *See Vines v. United States*, 70 A.3d 1170, 1175 (D.C. 2013) (evidence of crimes committed during defendant’s flight from police was admissible under *Drew* to show “consciousness of guilt and [defendant’s] identity as the perpetrator of the robberies” he had committed the previous day).

Jordan alternatively argued that there were mitigating circumstances that excused his conduct: Lynch had put Jordan in a “hold,” causing Jordan to have difficulty breathing and to call out for help (12/5/23 Tr. 121-22). Though Jordan did not expressly raise self-defense, his mitigation arguments placed his state of mind at

---

<sup>15</sup> To be precise, only the rummaging would constitute “other crimes” evidence. Mere possession of Lynch’s belongings, without more, was not a crime. *See Wheeler v. United States*, 470 A.2d 761 (D.C.1983) (evidence that during three-month period defendant had rung doorbells, peered into windows, wandered between houses and bushes, posed as a salesman and workman, followed one woman, and given an alias to a police officer, was “not sufficiently ‘criminal’ to fall within *Drew*’s scope”).

issue. Evidence that Jordan took the time to go through Lynch's pockets after the stabbing, rather than immediately flee the situation, undermined any suggestion that Jordan acted in the heat of passion and showed that Jordan was the aggressor. *See Medley v. United States*, 104 A.3d 115, 129 (D.C. 2014) (in self-defense case, evidence of prior assault was probative of defendant's motive and "state of mind").

Jordan acknowledges that "attempts to hide or destroy evidence can evince consciousness of guilt" but contends that such evidence "was irrelevant" in this case because he took the items from Lynch *after* the stabbing (App. Br. 50). Contrary to Jordan's contention, however, the circumstances under which he discarded the evidence were highly probative of his state of mind. Jordan got rid of Lynch's belongings only after it became apparent that law enforcement was closing in. As Jordan was making his escape, Officer John drove by him with lights and sirens activated (11/15/23 Tr. 93-96, 101), and minutes later, Officer Spajic "locked eyes" with Jordan and made a U-turn to pursue him (11/17/23 Tr. 59-60). Surveillance video showed that, in the interim, Jordan walked around Van Ness Elementary School (11/20/23 Tr. 138-39; Govt. Ex. 428). The discovery of Lynch's cell phone in the same block where Jordan was apprehended, and the return of Lynch's wallet in an envelope originating from Van Ness Elementary School, was thus powerful evidence that Jordan had rid himself of Lynch's property because he knew it could connect him to the murder. *See Peterson v. United States*, 657 A.2d 756, 761 (D.C.

1995) (defendant’s attempt to hide clothing that would identify him after seeing marked police car showed consciousness of guilt).<sup>16</sup>

Jordan nonetheless asserts that any minimal probative value was substantially outweighed by the risk of prejudice (App. Br. 48-52). Mindful of the prejudice that would arise from an inference of propensity (see 7/28/23 Tr. 35, 39-40, 44-45), the trial court took pains to mitigate any harm by giving a strongly worded limiting instruction that prohibited the jury from concluding that Jordan had a bad character and from convicting him of the crimes charged “simply because you believe he may have done something wrong not specifically charged as crimes in this case” (11/28/23 Tr. 82). *See Frye v. United States*, 926 A.2d 1085, 1094 (D.C. 2005) (“[This Court] presume[s] that . . . limiting instructions ‘will reduce, if not dissipate, the danger of unfairness and prejudice’” from other-crimes evidence.) (citation

---

<sup>16</sup> Jordan argues that this evidence was “unnecessary” to establish a connection between him and the decedent (App. Br. 48). But “the law does not require that the prosecution sanitize its evidence” where, as here, a defendant’s alleged “other crimes” “ar[i]se from the same series of transactions which underlay the charged . . . offense.” *Toliver v. United States*, 468 A.2d 958, 961 (D.C. 1983); *see also Hagans v. United States*, 96 A.3d 1, 30 (D.C. 2014) (rejecting argument that details of defendant’s participation in uncharged shooting were unnecessary, where such details were “necessary for a coherent presentation,” and “[a] truncated account that withheld this information from the jury would have eviscerated the legitimate probative value of the . . . evidence”).

omitted).<sup>17</sup> Importantly, the government did not argue propensity. Further, the risk of prejudice was minimal given that the conduct was entirely unlike the charged offense. *See Valdez v. United States*, 320 A.3d 339, 362 (D.C. 2024) (potential prejudice did not outweigh probative value where defendant’s prior crimes were not “comparable to, or suggestive of, the homicides and rape for which [he] was on trial,” and where government “did not argue propensity”); *Coleman v. United States*, 779 A.2d 297, 306 (D.C. 2001) (“The greater the similarity in the crimes, the greater the suggestion that the defendant has ‘a propensity to commit the crime charged,’ which is the prejudice the *Drew* rule seeks to avert.”).

### **3. Any error was harmless.**

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the trial court plainly erred in admitting the pocket-rummaging testimony or abused its discretion in admitting the evidence of the keys, wallet, and cell phone, reversal is not required because Jordan was not prejudiced by the evidence. *See Veney v. United States*, 936 A.2d 811, 828 (D.C.), *modified*, 936 A.2d 809 (D.C. 2007) (applying harmless-error standard of *Kotteakos v. United States*, 328 U.S. 750 (1946), to preserved objection to other-crimes

---

<sup>17</sup> Jordan suggests that the limiting instruction was inadequate, because “it strains credulity that jurors would not consider the possibility of robbery as a motive for the stabbing” (App. Br. 51). Putting aside that Jordan affirmatively proposed this instruction, this claim must be rejected because “jurors are presumed to follow the court’s instructions.” *Frye*, 926 A.2d at 1094. Jordan fails to rebut that presumption.

evidence). The government did not argue that Jordan robbed Lynch, that robbery was the motive for the murder, or that Jordan had a propensity to commit crime. Indeed, the government mentioned Jordan's rifling through Lynch's pockets only once during a lengthy closing argument (12/5/23 Tr. 50), and referred to the keys, cell phone, and wallet only to suggest that Jordan was "shedding" evidence as he fled (*id.* at 71-72, 142-43). The defense closing highlighted the weaknesses in this evidence, emphasizing that (1) there was no direct evidence that Jordan took Lynch's property, (2) Jordan's continued presence near the apartment building after the murder was inconsistent with guilt, and (3) there was no forensic evidence linking Jordan to the cell phone or wallet (12/5/23 Tr. 104-05, 114-15, 120). Additionally, as discussed, the court's comprehensive limiting instruction greatly diminished, if not eliminated, the risk of prejudice.

Further, it is highly unlikely that the evidence had any material effect on the verdict given the strength of the government's case. Two eyewitnesses identified Jordan as the murderer, Lynch's blood was on Jordan's clothing, and Jordan's statements after the murder (providing a false name, spontaneously denying that he had stabbed anyone, and proposing to Carmon so that she would not testify against him) compellingly demonstrated consciousness of guilt. In light of this evidence, there is no reasonable probability that the jury would have acquitted Jordan of the murder had it not learned that Jordan went through Lynch's pockets and took his

property. *See Sanders v. United States*, 809 A.2d 584, 591 (D.C. 2002) (no prejudice from admission of other-crimes evidence given trial court’s “extensive limiting instructions” (substantially similar to instructions given here), “government’s restrained closing argument,” and “strength of the government’s case”); *Murphy v. United States*, 572 A.2d 435, 439 (D.C. 1990) (admission of other-crimes evidence was harmless considering strength of government’s case and repeated limiting instruction).

### **III. The Trial Court Properly Admitted Evidence That Jordan Lied About Having Cancer.**

Jordan challenges the admission of (1) his statement to police that he had cancer and (2) his medical records proving the falsity of this statement (App. Br. 53-54). Because this evidence was properly admitted to show consciousness of guilt, Jordan’s challenge must fail.

#### **A. Background**

The government introduced body-worn-camera footage showing Officer Spajic’s apprehension of Jordan (Govt. Ex. 424a). During their interaction, Jordan lied about his name, would not answer questions about the children, and stated that he had cancer (11/17/23 Tr. 71; Govt. Ex. 424b, 424c). Jordan did not object to the admission of those statements.

Subsequently, the government sought to admit records of Jordan's medical treatment after his arrest to (1) rebut any self-defense claim by showing that he did not have injuries, and (2) impeach his statement to police that he had cancer (11/28/23 Tr. 70-73). Defense counsel objected on grounds that he did not intend to raise self-defense and that, particularly as to the cancer issue, any probative value was outweighed by the potential prejudice (*id.* at 73-75; 11/29/23 Tr. 15, 24-25). Jordan claimed that his statement about having cancer was a "throwaway statement" that had nothing to do with this case and had the potential to inflame the jury (11/29/23 Tr. 16, 23-25). The government responded that the statement showed Jordan's state of mind—at the same time he lied to Officer Spajic about his name and his whereabouts, he also lied about having cancer (11/29/23 Tr. 18-19).

The court ruled that the medical records were admissible to "counterbalance" Jordan's "self-serving statement" that he had cancer (11/29/23 Tr. 212). The court determined that the evidence was probative of Jordan's dishonesty during his interactions with the police (*id.* at 213).

Dr. Fidelis Doh testified that he examined Jordan on May 1, 2018 (11/30/23 Tr. 33). Jordan did not indicate that he had cancer, despite having been asked whether he had any "medical conditions or problems," nor did he appear to have any physical injuries or respiratory issues (11/30/23 Tr. 34-35, 41-44). Jordan's medical records also did not show any treatment for cancer (*id.* at 39-40, 47).

## **B. Standard of Review**

“[T]he evaluation and weighing of evidence for relevance and potential prejudice is quintessentially a discretionary function of the trial court, and [this Court] owe[s] a great degree of deference to its decision.” (*William*) *Johnson*, 683 A.2d at 1095. As noted, where an objection is preserved, this Court reviews a trial court’s admission of evidence for abuse of discretion. *See Bynum v. United States*, 133 A.3d 983, 985 (D.C. 2016). “If, however, a defendant has failed to object at trial to evidence contested on appeal, [this Court] review[s] for plain error.” (*Tyrell*) *Johnson v. United States*, 232 A.3d 156, 161 (D.C. 2020).

Although Jordan objected to the admission of his medical records, he did not raise a contemporaneous objection to the admission of his statement that he had cancer (see 11/29/23 Tr. (noting that statement came in without objection)). Accordingly, Jordan’s challenge to the admission of that statement should be reviewed only for plain error.

## **C. Discussion**

The trial court did not plainly err in admitting Jordan’s statement that he had cancer, nor did it abuse its discretion in admitting Dr. Doh’s testimony and Jordan’s medical records to prove the falsity of that statement. Jordan’s false claim that he suffered from cancer, like his assertion of a false name and his evasive responses about the children, demonstrated consciousness of guilt. *See Bassil v. United States*,

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